IN THE MATTER OF * BEFORE THE
ADAOBI S. UDEOZOR, M.D. * MARYLAND STATE BOARD
Applicant * OF PHYSICIANS
* Case Number: 2218-0006B

FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

On December 20, 2016, Adaobi S. Udeozor, M.D. (the "Applicant") filed an application
with the Maryland State Board of Physicians (the "Board") requesting the reinstatement of her
medical license after the expiration of her license. On February 12, 2018, Board Disciplinary
Panel B issued a Notice of Intent to Deny Reinstatement of License under the Maryland Medical
Practice Act, which notified the Applicant that it intended to deny her application, pursuant to
Health Occ. § 14-205(b)(3)(i), Maryland Code Annotated, which authorizes the denial of an
application for reinstatement based upon any of the reasons that are grounds for action under
Health Occ. § 14-404. The notice alleged that the Applicant had engaged in unprofessional
conduct in the practice of medicine, in violation of Health Occ, § 14-404(a)(3)(i1).

On October 29 and 30, 2018, pursuant to Health Occ. § 14-405, an evidentiary hearing
was held at the Office of Administrative Hearings. On January 17, 2019, the Administrative
Law Judge ("ALJ") issued a proposed decision, concluding that the Applicant was guilty of
unprofessional conduct in the practice of medicine, see Health Occ. § 14-404(a)(3)(ii), and, thus,
the ALJ recommended that the Notice of Intent to Deny Reinstatement of License under the

Maryland Medical Practice Act be upheld.’

" On page 3 of the ALJ's proposed decision, the ALJ states that he admitted into evidence certain
exhibits on behalf of the "Board." The ALJ, however, admitted those exhibits on behalf of the
"State." Thus, the exhibits at issue (ALJ's proposed decision at pages 3-4) are "State" exhibits 1-
16, and not, as the ALJ indicated, "Bd." exhibits 1-16. Additionally, on page five of the ALJ's
proposed decision, the ALJ stated that the "Respondent” testified on her own behalf. Panel A
finds that the ALJ meant to state that the "Applicant" testified on her own behalf.



Neither the Applicant nor the State filed exceptions to the ALJ's proposed decision.
FINDINGS OF FACT

Board Disciplinary Panel A ("Panel A") adopts the ALJ's Proposed Undisputed Findings
of Fact (numbered 1-9, ALJ's Proposed Decision at pages 5-6), Proposed Findings of Fact
(numbered 1-23, ALJ's Proposed Decision at pages 6-9), and Discussion (ALJ's Proposed
Decision at pages 9-22), which are incorporated by reference into this Final Decision and Order
as if set forth in full. The ALJ's proposed decision is attached as Exhibit 1.> The factual
findings were proven by the preponderance of evidence.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Panel A concludes that the Applicant is guilty of unprofessional co'nduct in the practice of
medicine, in violation of Health Occ. § 14-404(a)(3)(ii), and thus there is authorization for Panel
A to refuse to reinstate of the Applicant's license to practice medicine after her failure to renew
her license, under Health Occ. § 14-205(b)(3)(1).

Denial of Application‘

The ALJ recommended that the Applicant's application for the reinstatement of her
medical license be denied. Panel A finds that the denial of the Applicant's application is
warranted and adopts the ALJ's recommended disposition. |

ORDER
It is, thus, pursuant to Health Occ. § 14-205(b)(3)(i), by Panel A, hereby
ORDERED that Panel A refuses to reinstate the Applicant Adaobi S. Udeozor, M.D.'s

license to practice medicine in Maryland, and, thus, the Applicant's application, filed with the

2 panel A has redacted the names of certain individuals from the version of the ALJ's proposed
decision available to public to protect their privacy and confidentiality.
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Board, on December 20, 2016, for the reinstatement of her license to practice medicine in

Maryland is DENIED; and it is further

ORDERED that this is a public document.

0405|2019 QWM# S
Date ! J Christine A, Farrelly,’@&ec@e
Maryland State Board of P

Director /
cians ‘

NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO APPEAL

Pursuant to § 14-408(a) of the Health Occupations Article, Dr. Udeozor has the right to
petition for judicial review of this Final Decision and Order. Any petition for judicial feview
must be filed within 30 days from the date this Final Decision and Order was sent to the
Applicant. The petition for judicial review must be made as directed in the Maryland
Administrative Procedure Act, Md, Code Ann., State Gov’t § 10-222, and Maryland Rules 7-201
et seq. |

If Dr. Udeozor petitions for judicial review, the Board is a party and should be served
with the court’s process. In addition, Dr. Udeozor should send a copy of her petition for judicial
review to the Board’s counsel, David Wagner, Assistant Attorney General, Office of the
Attorney General, 300 W. Preston Street, Suite 302, Baltimore, Maryland 21201. The
administrative prosecutor is not involved in the circuit court process and does not need to be

served or copied on pleadings filed in circuit court.
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 MARYLAND STATE | ¢ BEFORLSTUART G. BRESLOW,

BOARD OF PHYSICIANS * %, AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE
v o | . %' Q¥ THEMARYLAND OFFICE. .
. ADOABI S, UDEOZOR, MD. . * OFADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS -

APPIJCANT v S ' .

LXCENSE No.: DA1987 (BSPIRED) - % OAH No.: MDE-MBP1-70-18-16487
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. PROPOSED DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ISSUE
' SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENOE '
PROPOSED UNDISPUTED F FINDINGS OF FACT
‘ PROPOSED FINDINGS OF TFACT
. DISCUSSION
PROPOSED CONCLUSION OF LAW
PROPOSED DISPOSITION
~ On February 12 2018, the Maryland State Board of Physmmns (Board) notified Adoabi
S. Udeozot, M.D. (Apphoant) of its intent to deny her apphcahon for Reinstatement of her
License to Practlce Medicine (Application) pursuant to the State law governing the plaotlce of
medicine. Md. Code Ann.,, Health Oce, §§ 14-101 et seq. (2014 & Supp. 2018). The Board
based its intent to deny the Application on its authority under section 14-205 of the Health
Occupations Altlole Spcmﬁcally, it found that the Applicant violated seotion 14-404 of the
Health Occupations Axticle. 1§ 14~205(b)(3)(1) (Supp. 2018); id. § 14 404(a)(3)(n) (cngagng
- in unprofessional conduct in the practlce of mcdlome)
. On May 23, 2018, the Board delegated thie matter to the Office of Admmstraﬁvc
Hearings (OAH) for a hearing on the Board’s intent to dény the Apphcant’ g Apphcahon. The
Board further delegafed the authoi-ity o the OAH to issue Proposed Findings of Fact, Proposed

Conclusion(s) of Law, and-a Proposed Disposiﬁ(;n.



On June 18, 2018, T issued a Scheduling Ordex following an in-person scheduling
oonfo1 ence (Confexenoo) that ooomred on June 15,2018 at tho OAH headquarters i in Hunt
Valley, Maryland. Dawn Rubin, A351stant Attorney General, appeared on behalf of the State of
Maryland (State), M_atthow H. Simmons, Bsquire, appeared on behalf of the Applicant, who was
not present. At'the Confercnco, each patty indicated their intention to file a dispositive motion, I
ordered that disposifive motions must be filed no later than the close of business on September 7,
2018. On August 28, 2018, the State subrrﬁttod a I;/Iotion for Summary Decision (Motion). .On
September 7, 2018, the Applicant filed he Cross-Motion for Summary Decision' (Cross-
Motion). On Soptombor 13,2018, the Applicant filed her Rosponoo to the Motion. On
Septeoober 17, 2018, the State filed its Rosoonse 1o the Cross-Motion. Iheld a hearing on the
Mo‘aon and Closs~Mo‘uon on September 27, 2018 | . 4 '

On October 18, 2018 1 issued a Proposed Ruhng on the Motion and Cross-Motion in
WhlGh I denied both the Mohon and C1oss~Mot10n and o1de1ed that tho contested case hearing

scheduled for October 29 and October 30, 2018 proceed as scheduled.

On O_otobor 29 and 30, 2018, L held a contested case hearing at the OAH. Health Oce. §

'14-465(a) (Sl.lpp.. 2018); COMAR 10.32.62‘04'. Matthew Simmons, Eéquire, represented the
Applicaot, who was present. .'Da'wn Rubin, Assistont Attorney General and Administrative
“Prosecutor, ropresohtcd the State. I olosoci the record on October 30, 20I18.

‘Procedure in this case is governed by the contested case provisions of the Aoministmtive
Procedure Act, the Rules for Hearings before the Board of Physioians, and the Rules of

Prooedmo of the OAH. Md. Code Ann., State Gov't §§ 10-201 through 10-226 (2014 & Supp.

2018), COMAR 10:32.02; and COMAR 28 02. 01

! The Applicant titled her motion as Applicant’s Motion for Snmmmy Ruling, I chtmged the title to Cross-Motion
for Summary Demsxon to avoid confusion.
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ISSUE

Whether or not the State has basis to dény the Applicant a license to practice medicine

in the State as a result of the disoiplinary panel’s denial on the basis of section 14-404(a)(3)(iE) of

the Hcalth Occupatxons Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland

.Exhlbms

SUMMARY OF THE I DVIDDNCI}

I adxmtted the followmg exhibits mto evidence on behalf of the Board:

Bd.Bx. 1~

Bd. Bx.2-

Bd, Bx. 3

Bd. Bx. 4 -

Bd.Ex. 5~

Bd. Ex. 6 -

Bd. Ex. 7~

Bd. Ex. 8 -

Bd.Ex. 9 -

Bd. Ex. 10 -

Bd. Bx. 11 -
Bd. Ex. 12 -

Bd. Ex. 13 -

Notice of Intent to Deny Reinstatement of License under the Maryland Medical
Practice Act, dated Februaty 12, 2018 ‘

Board of Physician Quahty Assurance, Endorsememﬂ? lex Application, dated

- March 21, 1990

Order issued by the Circuit Court for Montgomery County, Civil Case No.
27913 8, enteled August 29, 2007 '

Apphcatlon for Reinstatement of Medical, tiocnse, i‘eﬁéivcd Décember 20,2016

Lette1 from Lily Schmulowitz, Compliance Analyst Associate; Maryland Board
of Physicians, to Applicant, dated Octobex 5, 201’7 .

Letter from Applioant to Lﬂy Schmulowitz, datcd October 11,2017

Letter from Matt Simmons, Bsquire, to Christine Razrelly, Bxecutive Director,
Maryland Board of Physicians, dated October 25, 20117

USA v, Udeozox, et al, Criminal Dookct for Casc #3: 93 01u00470~PJM~1

!
Superseding Indictment, USA . Udeozor, et al, Crinjinal No. PJM—O3 0470
entered by the Clerk of the U.S. Dlstuct Coutt on NoVembe1 12, 2003

Transcript from the case of USA v, Udéozor, et a.l Climinal Docket for Case
48:03-0r-00470-PTM-1, pp. 1-219, dated October 8, 3004

Transcript from the case of USA v. Udeozor, et al, Cr iminal Docket for Case -
#8:03-cr-00470-PIM-1, pp. 1-155, dated October 12 2004

Transcript from the cage of USAV. Udeozm et al, Cmmnal Docket for Case
#8 03-cr—00470 PIM-1, pp. 1-50, dated October 13, 2004

Speclal Findings, dated October 18, 2004
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Bd. Ex. 14~

Bd. Bx. 15 -

Bd. Ex. 16 -

USA V. Udeozor, et al, Criminal Docket for Case #8:03“01*~00470~PJM«1,

- Judgment it Criminel Case, issued April 21, 2006

Withdmwn

USA, v, Udeozor, PIM-03-0470, Transcript of Sentencing Hearing before the
Honorable Poter M. Messitte, held April 18,2006 '

I adxmtted the followmg 0xb1b1ts into evidence on behalf of the Apphuant

App. Ex.

App. Ex.

App. Bx.

App Ex.

i -
9 -
-

4,.

“AppEx(5~

App. Ex.
"App. Bx.

App. Bx.

App. Ex:
App. Bx.

App. Bx.

- App. Bx.

App. Bx,

G-

Petition for Judicial Revww, in the Circuit Comt for Montgomery County,
Maryland, filed January 29, 2007

Not, admitted : ' ' - '
Not admitted

Not admitted

Order of the Circuit Coutt for Montgomexy County, Mmylcmd Civil Case No.

. 279138~V, -entered August 29, 2007 . .

Verdict Form, Special Fmdmgs Jury note, entered November 18, 2004 i the
United States Dls{x it Cout for the District 6f Maryland, PIM-03 -047 0 .

. Letter from Matt Simmons to the Reinstatement of Medical Licensure Unit of the

Board of Physmmns dated March 4, 2015
Letter from the Board of Physmans to the Apphcant dated April 30 2015

Letter from Dierdra Rufts, Supel\usm, Lwensme Umt Board of Phymclans to

. Applicant, dated December 3, 2015

10 -

11~

12 -

13 -

Letter from Lily Schmulowitz, Compliance Analyst, to the Applicant, dated
October 5, 2017 ‘ ’
No docuthent submitted in tab 11

Letter from Apphcant to Lily Schmulow1tz, referencing sxgned Authouzatxon for
Release of Information

Letter from Mait Simmons to Christine Fartelly, dated Deoembel 13, 2017



Tesﬁmony

Board.

Lily Schmulowitz, Compliance Analyst Assooiéte, Board, testified on behalf of the

The Respondent testified in her own behalf, and presented the following witnesses:

homemaker

PROPOSED UNDISPUTED FINDINGS OX FACT

"The Applicznit was lioensed to practice medicine in Maryland on or about July 1, 1991,

The Applicant’s license to practice medicine expired oni or about September 30, 2007.

On Novemboer 18, 2004, the Applicant was convicted in the United States District Court
fot the District of Matyland of conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.CA. §371. She was
also convisted of violating 8',U.’S.C..A, § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (B)({):

[lc]noWing .m.ld in reckless disregatd of the fact that & juvenile alien

had come to, entered and remained in the United States in violation of

law, attempted to and did harbor the juvenile alieh in a place,

specifically, the defendant’s residence in the District of Maryland,

and did so for the purpose of commercial advantage and private

financial gain, ' . |
The Aﬁplioant was found not guilty of violating 18 U.S.C.A. § 1584 “knowingly and
willfully holding a juvenile alien to inyoluntary servitude for a term.”

As a result of her convictions, the Applicant was sentenced to 87 months’ imprisonment

~and ordered to pay $110,249.60 in restitution,

The Applicént.was incarcerated from June 2006 through Septembér 2012,
On or about Decembér 29, 2006, the Board of Physicians suspended the .Appliczmt"s
license to practice medicine based on a finding that she had been.convicted of a crime

involving moral turpitude by the United States District Court for the District of Maryland.



8,  The A‘pplic:ant appealed the decision of the Boatd of Physicians,and, on ozl about
Auvgust 14, 200’{, the Circuit éourt revérsed the Board of Physicians’ decision, without
prejudice, and allowed the Board of Physicians to refile. |

9. The Applicant appealed her coantlons to the United States Court of Appeals for the

| Fourth Circuit (Fourth Cncu1t) and on February 1, 2008, the Fourth Circuit affirmed the

District Coutt's convwhons of the Applicant,

PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

Having considered all of the‘cvide'nce presented, I find the following facts bya
preponderance of the evidence:

1. The App’licént allowed her license to practice medi‘cine, to cxpife on September 30, 2007,
while she was incarcerated. .

2. Four years following the Applicant’s release from prlson the Applicant filed an application
with the Board to 1emstate her license to prac‘uoe medicine on December 20, 2016,

3. Her apphca’uon was ass1gned to Lily Schmulowitz, Comphance Analyst Assomate for the
Board., Ms. Schmulowitz is regponsible for mvestlga’ung cases on behalf of the intake
department of the Board. Her duties include medical oduczition investigétions,'intent to |

‘ deny applications for licensure, crimes of moral turpitude, unlicensed practice of medicine,
* and other administrative duties.
4, Ms. Schmulowitz was assigned the Applicant’s ¢ase in July 2017 . | _
' 5 The Apphcant had filed two previous apphcatxons for reinstatement of her medical license,
wlnch were denied for failing to mest the standard 1equuements for licensyre, moludmg
" passing the medical licensing exam.
6.‘ The Applicant has since met the basic requirements for licensure including passing the

medical licensing exam.



7. Having met the basic licensing requirements, the Applicant was informed that her
application for reinstatement may be approved by the Board,
8. The Boatd was provided wifh numerous documents to consider before deciding whether to

approve the Applicant for licensute, Included in thiese documents were tfanscripts of the

direct and cross-examination festimony of '-2 and -dmmg the

Applicant’s criminal trial before the United States District Court for the District of
‘Maryland. ’

9. Ms. Schmulowitz did not meet or interview the Applicant as part of her investigation and |
was not required to do so. T | |

10. At the conclusion of her investigation, Ms, Schmulowitz proyidcq the information she
obtained to thé Boatd. Ms. Schmulowitz did not take part in discussions to either approve
or dxsapprove the Apphcant’s reinstatement apphcatton .

11. In October 1996, *_ a fourteen year old gitl, was brought to the United States from
Nigeria by the Applicant’s ex-husband, George Udeozor, to live in thc Apphcant’

. Household. She stayed through October 2001,

12 (-entered the United States on a passpott issued tof

knew tha’c-entcred the United States illegally.

B is one of the Applioant’_

14. In October 1997, _started working in the Applicant’s medical office, While working

The Applicant

at the Applicant’s medical ofﬁce,_would verify insurance information, reschedule
' patients, answer the phone, get 8 patient’s chart feady, clean out the examination room, and

put the patient in the room while waiting to see the Applicant.

z as the child brought to this country. from Nigeria by the Applicant’s cx-husband, George Udgozor. She
lived in the Applicant’s home until she left in October 2001,

7 .



15. ;_did'ﬂot attend school duting hex entire s'taywith. the Udeozor family. When people

asked why-was not in schqol,i_Waé told by the Applicant to tell them that

she was the Applicant’s adopted daughter, which the Applicant knew to be false.

' 16.1-Was never enrolled in either public or private school.
17. The medical office work performed by _Wﬂs i@“ﬁdﬂ&iﬁig% cleaning the Applicant’s
house, prepating linches for the Applicant’s other children-to cat at sohool, and assisting |

with laundry and other household chores. She was not paid for performing any howsehold

[
chores.

18 | oo care ofs- the Applicaﬁt’ s‘-i-
19. The Applicant’s children also 'worked in the Applicant’s medical office during summer
months when they were no longer in school, The children were paid by check that was

deposited into their own accounts. .-wa's also paid by checlc payable to het, but

- did not have a bank account and lier check was deposited into_

account. - did not} receive the proceeds ofthe checks made payable to her.

20. g-was yelled at Sy the Applicant and was struck by the Applicant many times during
her stay in t}}e Applicant’s home. The Apphémﬁ often used a sho¢ to strike.g She
was struck and yelled at for various reasons including not properly cleaning the house,
‘t‘)‘gcg‘lg‘ing a dish, or allowirg one of the Applicant’s children to wear a soilcd shirt,

.21.0n one. occasion, the Applicant hit (gwith a ﬂexiblé cane on the side of her abﬁomen
for the alleged reason that _had allowed one of the Applicant’s children to fall and
‘hurt his neck. - was told that she would be struck twelve times with the cane to
 punish her for allowing the cl;ild to be hutt, After-moved during the course of
being struck, the Applicent informed l-ﬂiat she would start the count all 'oﬁer because

she had moved and proceedeﬁ to strike her twelve times.
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22, After the Apﬁlicant struek J_Mth a cane, George Udeozot suucl(-with the
buckle of hig belt several times. o S
93, George Udeozor sexually abuseda-repqatédly and threatened her with deportation if
she told pnyoné about his actions, ° | ' |

DISCUSSION

" Legal Framework .
Section 14-205(b)(3) of the Health Oceipations Article provides:
(3) Subject to the Adminisirative Procedure Act and the hearing prqvisions gf
§14-405 of this title, a disciplinary panel may deny a license to an applicant or, if
an applicant has failed to renew the applicant’s license, refuse to renew ot
reinstate an applicant’s license for: '
(i) any of the reasons that are grounds for action under §14-404 of this title . ..,
Health Occ. § 14«205(b)‘(3) (2014 & Supp, 2018). The grounds for action under section 14-404
are: 4 .
. (=) Subject to tﬁe hearing provisions.of § 14-405 of this subtitle, a dis?iplinaryt ‘
panel; on the affirmative vote of a majotity of the quorum of the disciplinaty

. panel, may reprimand any licensee, place any licenisce on probation, or suspend or
revoke a license if the licensee: ‘

(3) is guilty of:

. (i) Unprofessional éonduct in the practice of 'medio'me Cee
‘Thc burden of proof in. this case is.'mitiall.y on the Applicant to establish that she meets all
of the licensute requirements of the Medical Practices Apt. Id. §§ 14101 et seq. (20|14 & Supp.
2618), If the State determines that the Applicant has not satisfied all of the requirements, as it
has done in this case by' claiming that she s guilty of unprofessional conduct in the practice of
medicine, then the burden shifis to the State to establish prima facte evidence of that fact, If the
Staté' is able to establish prima facie evidence of ‘th'e fact, then the burden shifts again to the

9
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Applicént to estgblish the disqualifying fact is not true or not significant enough to deny the
Applicant a medio.al license. In this case, the Applioan{ atgues that éhe has satisﬁed all of the
requirernents for licensure but for the allegation of unprofessional conduot in the p1actwe of
medicine, The Applicant further argues that the State has failed to estabhsh a prima facie case of
unproféssifsnal conduct in the practice of medicine or, alternatively, the allegations are simply
untrue. | | |

The Applicant pon?eﬁds théllt the State’s case relies primatily on the hearsay testimony of
several witn'essesi who testified at the criminal trial of the Applicant in the United States District
Court for the District of Mmyland. As such, the testlmony should be given little or no weight as
the Apphcant did not have an oppomunty to cross examine the witnesseg. It is fundamental in
gdnn'nistraj:ive law that hparsay evidence is not inadmissible and may éyen b.c the sole basis of
*the decision. Matyland’s APA provides that ‘iprof)aﬁve evidence that seasonable and prudent
individuals commonly accept in 1he conduct of their affairs” may be admiﬁed in a contested case
hearing, Md. Code A, State Gov't § 10—213(b) (2014), see also COMAR 28.02.01, 21B (At,
an administrative hearing, an administrative law Judge “may admit evidence that reasonable and
prudent individuals comrponly accept in the condgct of their aﬁairs, and give probatwe effect fo
that evidence,”); COMAR 28.62.01.210 (“Bvidence may not be excluded solely on the basis
that it is hearsay.”). |

However, “w};ile administrative agencies are not constrained by technical rules of
evidence, they must observe .basic rules of fairness . , . S0 asto compott with the requirements of
procedural due pxocess afforded by the Fomtcenth Amendment.” Traversv. Balt, Police Dep't,
115 Md. App 395,411 (1997). Moteover, “a decision based on hemsay wlebe closely
scmumze‘d to determine if the decision is supported by substantial evidence.” Arnold Rochvarg, -

Principles and Practice of Maryland ddministrative Law § 6.11, at 84 (2011).
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In 1971, the United States Supreme Coufé 6uﬂined a number of faotors that assured the

| “reliability and pmbaﬁve value” of specific hemsay eviderice—physicians’ reports—in a social

| security disability claim hearmg where 1he claimant did not subpoena the reportmg physicians
and did not have an opportunity to Cross- exammc the physicians, chhardson v. Perales, 402
1.S. 389, 402 (19 71). The Court held that “despite the presence 01" opposmg direct med10a1
testimony and testimony by the claxmant hlmsc]f [such hearsay evxdcncej may oonsmute

substantial evidence supportive of a finding by the hearing examiner advetse to the claimant.” |

Id.
Maryland s treatment of hearsay

" Maryland’s appellatc courts “htwe developud guldelmcs to assure that 1he [hear say]
ev1denoe which is crcdlted is relzable and compe’cent » Kade v, Charles H. Hzckey Sch 80 Md.
App. 721 727 (1989) (emphasxs added), Travers is the “most useful Maryland case on heatsay
and administrative ddjudications.” Rochvarg, supra, § 6:11; at 84. In Travers, the cou;‘t
emphasized that the “nature of the hearsay evidence” was an important consideration in. its .
“reliability and probative value,” 115 Md, App. at 413, The Travers court 1cv1ewed Supreme
Court cages, including Perales, and Maryland appellate cases and concludcd that “[s]tatements
that are (1) sworn under oath, (2) made close in time to the incident, or (3) conoboxated are
presumed to b more reliable than other statemehs,” Prince Geor ge's Cty, v. Hartley, 150 Md.
App. 581, 596 (2003) (cltmg Trqvers, 115 Md. App at 411),

The Travers court also “reco gmzed thata basm tenct of fauneﬁs in admnnstxauve
adjudications is the requirement of an opportunity for rcasonable cross-examination” of the
complaining witness, The court oongluded that concerns about the neuu'ality of the complaining'
witness “are less weighty in cases when hearsay statements come into evidence through a

disinterested witness.” 115 Md. App. at 417-19 (stating further that “Iw]e read Perales as

11



standing for the proposition that claimants who forgo tlieir right to subpoena known, material
witnesses effectively waive any ogjections to deni;ﬂ of an opportunity to cross-examine”); see -
' also Parﬁam v. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Registration, 189 Md. App. 604, 618-19 (2009)
(“[TThe courts have looked to many factors to dete1m1ne the reliability of hearsay evidence. One
indication of its re 1ab1hty is whcther it has been dnecﬂy contr adwtcd by other more reliable
evidence. Another factor i is whether the appellant had a meaningful opportunity to cross-
examine the hearsay; declaljai;t.;’ (citations omiﬁed)).

Threaded throﬁgho_ut this analySis ig the bias or interest of the hearsay declarant, Under
“basic' rules of fairness,” an important factor i:s whether there is a “meaningzful opportunity to
" cross-examine the hearsay declarant.” Parhanm, 189 Md. App. at 618-19. The Travers court ,
concluded, however, Lhat “claimants who forgo their right to subpoena known, material
witnesses effecuvely waive any ObJ ections to demal of an oppor tunity to cross-examine.” 115
Md. App at 418 19.

The Smte argues that the decision of the Fourth. Cm,mt in United States 12 Udeozor, 515
F.3d 260 (4th Cir. 2008), should result in the apphcatlon of offensive nonmutual collateral
estoppel in the present case as to the ﬁndmgs contmned in the decision. The doctrine of
collateral estoppel pxovldes that “[w]hen an issue of fact or law is actually litigated and
determined by a valid and ﬁnal judgment, and the determmatwn is essential to the Judgment, the
determination is cbnclusive in a subsequent action between the I;m'tiqs; whether on the same or a
different clann " Brown 2 Mayor 167 Md. App 306, 319 (20006) (quotmg Murray Int'l Freight

Corp. v. Graham, 315 Md. 543 547 (1989)} Collateral estoppel apphes to bar re- htlgatlon if the

answer to each of the followmg questions is yes:

1. 'Was the issue decided in the priot adjudwauon 1dent1cal with the one
presented in the action in question?
2. Was there a final judgment on the merits?

12
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. 3, Was the party agamst whom the plea is asserted a party o in prmty with a
party to the prior adjudication? ,
4, Woas the party against whom the plea is asserted given a fair oppofcumty fo be
heard on the issue? .

Cosby v Dep 't of Human Res., 425 Md. 629 639 (2012) (quotmg Coland; eav. Wilde
 Lake Craty. Ass’n, 361 Md, 371, 391 (2000)).

Analysis

The issue in this case s whether the Board erred in denying the Applicant’s ai)plication to

reinstate her license o practice medicine. The facts are quite clear that the Applicant has now
sat1sﬁed all of the gene1al requlrements for licensure; however, the Board, in its Notice of Intent
to Deny Reinstatement of Licensee Urnider the Mmyland Medical Practice Act, 1ofused to
reinstate her license because she was found by the Board to be guilty of m1p10fessmna1 conduct
in the practice of medicine. The foundation for that ﬁndmg is based apoir two convictions on
November 18,2004, followmg 2 Jury trial in the Umted States letnct Cout f01 the District of .
Maryland: one conyiction of consplraoy and anoiher of halbonng a ]u‘vemle alien - at
the Applicant’s residence in Maryland for the purpose of comuretcial advantagc and private
financial gain. The Applicant was found not guilty of involuntary servitude, The Apphcant, as
was her right, d1d not testlfy at her cr iminal mal | |

| Thc State argued in its Motion that the Fomth Circnit’s detclmmatlon of the facts
underlymg the convictions are unassailable pursuant to the dooh ine of collateral estoppel as all

four elements required to support collateral estoppel (also 1eferr¢d to as issue preclusion) had

been met. The Applicant argued that while the Fourth Circuit desoribed these facts as underlying -

- the decision of the District Coutt, they cannot be vsed for collateral estop‘pel purposes because it
is the jury, and not the District Coﬁrt, that was the fmdef of "fuot in that qasc.' Therefore, the onl}"
facts that are subject fg col}aterzil estoppel are the tvx;o convictions following the jury’s verdict,

| These convictions satisfy all four elements necessary for application of collateral estoppel. In
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the criminal case, there was a final judgment on the mé;its. The Applicant waé a party to the
prior action and was given & fair opportunity to be heard on the iésua, although she elected not to
testify, The prior adjudication found the Applicant guilty of both conspiracy aﬁd harboring of an
alien for the purpose of commercial advantage or prwate ﬁnanolal gain,

The State argued i in its Motion that collateral estoppel should be more broadly apphed to
include the underlying facts cited by the Fourth Circuit. I previously ruled in my Proposed
Rulings on Motion and Cross Motion for Summary Decjsion, issued on October 18, 201‘8, that
the application of collateral estoppel i nﬁrower and is limited to the decision by the jxify i the
'crir..ninal case. |

Although I deterrni;led that only the ﬁhdings of the jury can be used for collateral
estoppel pﬁrposes, the parties had an oppgrtunit.y to present evidence at a Hearing ;)n the merits to
determine whether the Board erred in not granting the; Aﬁplicant é license to praoticg medicine
based o its d;atcrmmation éf unprofessional conduet in the practice of medicine. The
evidentiary portion of this case included ﬂ)e.:testimony of oni}" four witnesses. The Applicant

" testified on her own behalf and also presented the testimony of het B - and a
homemaker fncnd,- Lily Solnnulothz was the only wmxegys who
testified oﬁ behqlf of the State, In additio.n to their hve teshmopyi several udnscupts of
testimony from the criminal trial of tﬁe Applicant éntered into tﬁe record These tragécri1>ts
include the testimony of] 4-and - the Apphcants homemakel

The Applicant argued, unsuccessﬁllly, that the transcripts of the tcstxmony of -

_should not have been admitted into ev1dence because then‘ teshmony was hearsay,
~ The Apphcant further argued that she did not have an opportunity to cross-examine these

W1tnesses and was, thelefore unable to challenge the velamty of their statements Accmdmgly,
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she argued that the priot ‘wstimoﬁy shbuld he given little or no weight m my evaiuatioii of the
evidence. '
As prevxously noted, in an administrative proceeding, evxdence may not be excluded

solely on the basis that it is heatsay, COMAR 28. 02.01.21C, Thé Applicant argues that I-would .'
" be unable to evaluate fhe credibility of the witnesses if I am provided only w1th a trangeript of
their tesﬁmony in & prior proceeding, It is true that I canndt evaluate a witness’s ct cd1b1hty

based on her demeanor if the wittiess doos not appeat to testify in person. Howevet, evaluating

demeano'r is not the only determining féctor in evaluatinig the probative vélué of prior,

traﬁscribed testimony, Fitst, as previ‘ously discussed, the Applicant had the opportunity to cross-
“examine, the witnesses during; the lengthy criminal proceeding. Presumably,loross—cxaminaﬁou

was at feast partially focused on the credibility of the withess. Second, if the Applicant bcli;:ved |

that the testinony of-' or _‘;vould be significantly (llifferent {hari their testimony ‘

at the criminal triél',»the Al.)pilioaint had the oppbfwnit& to subpﬁena each of them to testify in |

persoii during this proceeding, She did not. Instead the Applicant prcscntcdthc testimony of

_ a homemalker and friend of the Apphcant along with the Apphod.nt‘

Ms é-lestlﬁed that the Apphoam took great care of het infant child who

nearly dled but for the care of the Apphoant She testified that she saw the Apphczmt’b children
in the Applicant’s medical office vcxy frequently. Due to her sicl children, she saw the
Applicant in a professional setting approximatély once a month, She saw, helping with
tﬁe other childrexi’s school work, but never saw her performing any ofﬁce duties such as cleaning
the examination rooms after- 2 patlent left or doing general cleaning of the office,

Ms. _chd not testify at the criminal tual of fhe Applicant and no one asked

.her to testify. Atvthc time of the trial, her mother was deathly ill and passed away. She
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omphasized during her testimony that hex mother “bled out.” She did not communicate Wiﬁ1 the

Applicant during the Applicant’s eighty seven mogths of incarceration. During her testimony,
Ms. -'appeared defensive and would o'f;cn not directly answer questions asked by
the State. For example, when asked whether she was aware of what happened during the
criminal tria;l, she re'sponded, “I lost my Motm, I wast't ther'e..”

I found her to be somewhat hostile in her responses to'questi(‘ms asked by 'the State. She
stated during the hearing that she “lies for no one,” even though no one accused her of lying to |
anyone. She is clearly a close persc;nal friend of the Applicant arid her bias towaids the
lApplica.nt was evident by ﬁer ‘defc'nsiv'c posture and her responses t(; the State’s qﬁestions. I
g,ave little welght to her tesumony as a result,

— the Apphcant’ - testxﬁed during the hearing that the

Apphcant’s children and _Would frequently visit the Apphc'mt’s medical office. She

- admitted that they would answer telephones and [the Applicant} would give the children “I don’t

know, little jobs to do.” When asked if the children over interacted with patients she dcnied that

they dld however, it seems reasonable that if the Apphcant’s children and 4- msweled

telephones, some of thcse calls would have been ﬁom pauents Ms. | id 1 1ot go into any

detail what she meant by “little jobs to do in the ofﬁce ” Ms. _explained that the

chlldren and c-wele not forced to work, but- they dld get pa1d She explained that since. ‘

-d1d not have a bank’ account, her payment would be by checlc payable to both her and

- which was deposned in Ms. | B ccount, Ms ‘-lmmed that-

would be paid in cash from her account, The Applicant provided no documentation, including

bank recmds to conoborate Ms, -cstlmony -ﬂatly denied, dunng the

 criminal trial, ever receiving payment for working i in the Applicant’s medical office.
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Ms. _testi;ﬁed that-iid patticipate in family activities and was provided

with music lessons and was named as a beneficiary on the Applicént’s life insurance policy. She

knew that‘-helped Ms. -olean' the Applicant’s house,

-testlﬁed at length during the criminal tnal She explained that she was brought
to the United States by the Applicant’s ex-husband, Gcorge Udeozor, at the ago of foultccn Her
fathel gave George Udeozor petmission to take her to the United Statms to live a better life than
what she had expenenced in N1ger1m— overheard George Udeozm explain to her father
that -Would take care of his kids because the Applicant had a fight with the previous baby
sitter. George Udeozor further explained to- father thai-WOuld go to school and
that payment would be made to her palents She explained in detail ber responsibilities while
living in the Applicant’s home, which mcluded cating for the Applicant’s younger children,
cleaning, cooking, and doing assorted other chores, She testiﬁed that while.ﬁie other children
were in school, she would work approximately three days a week in the Applicant’s medical
oﬂice Answering phones, along with othex ofﬂce duties mcludmg verifying insurance.
mfo1mauon, reschedulmg patients, gettmg a pauent’s chart ready, cleaning out the examination
yooms, and putting the patient in the room while waiting to sec the Applicant. She started
- workinhg in ﬁle Aﬁpﬁoant’s medical office in October 1997, ‘

-tesﬁﬁed that the Appliqanf yelled at her-and called her names, Th‘e ‘Applicant
would hit her for not cleaning the house properly or for allowing the other children to leave the
house with soiled clot}ﬁng When one of the Aﬁplican’i’s children was injured and hurt his neck,
the Applicant hlt-wﬁh a flexible cane more than twelye times in her midsection. -
p1ov1ded detail of these beatings and explained that the Applicant’s ex-husband repeatedly raped
‘her while he was in the household. She was threatened with deportation if she told anyone.

When asked by outsiders why she was not in school, the Applicant told-to tell them that
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she was enrolled in Montgomery College. The Applicant also told ‘-to say that she was
her adoptéd daughtt_zr, although shé was never adoptéd.
-s tes‘timonjf was detailed, and she recounted the beaﬁngs and the fixst instance of
rape by George Udeozor with clarity during her testimony, although th.e'incidents occurred years'
" earlier, The severity of the assaults committed would likely be fresh in her .mind, despite the.
years that have éoho by, due to the tranma she experienced, ‘ .
Thé Applicant testified and painted a completely ‘d%ffex‘ent_ picture of what occurred while
,-lived 'in her home and worked in her medical office. The Appliéant said she only
i recalléd-worldng in her medical office dur.ing one summer. She testified dm'ing théf
hearing that she “just made them do things in ﬁle office; do whatever they could, Sometimes
+they would answer the phoné.” It is noteworthy that the Applicant’s office accountant told the |
Applicant that tl'xe Applicant needed a Social Sécurity nuipber for all the children no matter how
little they were. Presumably, the Social Seouri’ty number was needed to account for payments
the Applicént made to the children for work performed in the dfﬁce. -did not obtain a
| Social Security numbet and was not-paid for work performed in the medigal office. . The
Applicaﬁt testified that she never hiﬂ- ,
As a challenge to her credibility, the Applicant was asked during cross-examination
whether she made'misrepresentatiqns to an hmr}igration Judge concerning her marriage to
George Udeoz:or‘while still married at the time to -i- She denied that she made any
misrepresentations; however, she was found to have done so, as affirmed by the Fourth Circuit in
Obioha v Gonzales 431 F.3d 400 (4th Cir, 2005). |
The Applicant claimed at the hearing that she never Iut_ yet yeaw befoxe, during

' the criminal trial, .-testlﬁed and described in detail the beatings slie endured at the hands
of the Applicant. ’ |
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The Apphcant during her sentencmg hearing (Bd Ex 16), stated that Tudge Messitte was
“sending an inndcent person to prison.’ » She claimed that -Nas ugmg the system to
. punish her, She beheved that she was being punished for something she did not do, The
Apphcant testified durmg the cmlent hearing, many years after the sentencing hearmg, that she
dxd not understand how she was put i this situation. She complmned that her atiofneys did a ‘
“yery very bad appaal fm me.” She stated that a fellow prisoner d1d a bettex appeal for hm She
did not agree with her appeal.
; Her statements duting the sentencmg hcatmg and during the instant hearing desonbe an
V\ individual who has 1o remorse for the actions for which she was convicted. 'She completely
chsputes the vcrdxct of the jury, whlch found her guilty of oonsplraoy and harboring an illegal
alien for financial gam 1 find the Applicant’s argument that the jury’s finding of not guﬂty on "
the chmge of mvoluntary servitude somehow diminishes the impact of the jury’s other fmdmgs
simply unpersuasive, Based on the Apphcant’s test_lmony at the hcan.pg, it is still quite apparent
that the Appliéant belioves that she was wrongly‘ convicted, She continues to believé ﬂla'tv
-s testimony re;;arding the work she 'performed and the other matters to which she
testified were only for purposes of‘ihérinﬁnéting her, Having been convicted and sentenced to
eigh.ty—sevex; lmonths in prison along with an order of restitution in the mﬁﬁunt 0f $110,249.60,
‘the Applicanf still conﬁnues to believe that she was wrongly convicte‘d and shov'vs 1O IeMmOISe.
The Applicant has a history of mmewmmg to mnmgrahon officials her marital status '
and whether she Had any chlldxen She appeared defcnswe when tesufymg at the hearing and
continued to claim that -was treated as well, if not better, than hex own childrén Whﬂe she

lived i in the Applicant’s home. She could not deny that the pohca came 1o het home when

- lled therm to take her from the Applicant’s home, but clanns that she did not kaow

where 4-qu‘ta1ccn ‘after the policé came for her. If - was considered an equal
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member of the Applicant’s family, it seems reasonable that the Applicant would follow-up to
inquire where 4-was taken or whete she lived after leaving the Applicant’s household,
The Applioant’s total lack of remotse, hex propensity to make stafements to immigration officials

under oath that are untrue, and her defensive posture at the hcmmg of this cage cause me to

e |

“discount her testimony. The fact is -worked in the Applicant’s houschold and inher

medical office and was not pald for the work she performed. The jury convxoted the Apphcant of

harboring an alien for financial gain, A restitution order was imposed by Judge Messitte in the

amoupt 0f"$110,249.60 to re'n'nburse_md to disgorge the Applicant of that financial gain.
The Board denied the Applio'ant reinstatement of her medical license due to its finding

that she was guilty of unprofessional conduct in the practice of medicine. The Court of Appeals.,

has addressed.this issue in'a numbet of cases that havé relevance to the instant case. First,

-and the Applicant agfce that -Norked in the Applicant’s medjcal office, The

" dur atzon of her time and the scope of work perfo1med by-i.n the office are disputed. The

;%.

Apphcant can only remember her working in the office for one_ summer; however. - stated
durmg het testimony at the onmmal trial that she was working at the ofﬁce more extensively and
while the Applicant’s children were in school. All agree that _mswered telephones in the
Applicant’s medical office. The Applicant stated that she did other unspecified “thmgs” inthe
office as well.
| The issue before me is whethéx* the Applicant wa;z éuilty of unprofcssioﬂal conduct in the
practice of medicine. The Court of Appeals ruled in the case of McDonnell v. Commission on
Medical Discipline, 301 Md. 426 (1984), that the practice o;f medicine did not include physician
misconduct involving a civil malpractice triai in which thc' ];hysibian, Dr. McDongell, attempted
to influence gx'pert witnesses who were scheduled to testify against him in a medical fnalpriictice

trial. Similarly, the Applicant argues that the ‘Appellant’s convictions for conspiracy and
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harbormg an illegal alien for financial gain'do not fall within the stamte that wou1d permit the
Board to find that the Applicant was guilty of unpxofessmnal conduct in the practice of medicine.
More recently, the Court of Appeals in the case of Board of Physician Qualily Assurance v.
Banks, 354 Md:, 59,71 (1999j held that a physician’s sexual harassment of hospital empl‘oyees
occurred in the practtce of medmme The Banks court, concluded that lncmtmg misconduct’
cormmtted in the process of diagnosing, evaluating, examlmng, or treatmg a pa’nent would lead
to unreasonable rcsults aid render the statute inadequate to deal with the many situations that
may arise. Id, at 73. The Banks court looked to detelmme whether the activity was intertwined
with patient care to pose a thrcat to patients'or the medical profession.

In the case before me, ﬂerc can be no dispute that working in a medical office is
intertwined with medical care, The Applicantl admitted that! A answered phones in the
Applicaﬁt‘ s medical office. Tt is reasonable to infer that some of these calls were from patients,
insurance companies; medical laborato;iés, or other ‘mdividual;s directly involved in the
Applicant’s practipq of medicine. The jury foungl that the Applicant financially gained from

-s work, which included both worl at home and in the Applicant’s medical office. Asa
result, Judge Messitte imposeci a restitution order to reiﬁburse‘_ for the work sh;a
performed for which shg was not paid, The Applicant’s actions Byrallowing( to work in
her rﬁedical office posed a threat to patients or the medical profession because-was
required to respond to telei:hone inquiﬂes that may have involved confidential patiént
information, for which thcrc'was no indication'in the record ’théit she was trained or qualiﬁcd fo
“handle. During the heanng, the Apphcant did not specify othex work that- performed in ’
the office, butt-tesuﬁcd during the cnmmal trial that she would verify i insurance
information, reschedulo patients, answet the phone, get a patient’s chart ready, clean out the

room, and put the patient in the room while waiting to see the Applicant, All of these activities
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by an undocumented and potentially unqualified assistant posed a clear threat fo patients and to

e -

the medical profession.

Similatly as in Banlks, the Court of Special Appeais in Cornfield v. State Board of
Physicians, 174 Md. App. 456 (2007), de'termined.‘that uuproféssional! conduct in the practice of
medicine would also inolpde being dishonest to a hospital beer review committee. The Maryland
Courts have thus taken a more expansive yiew of what constitutes unprofessional conduct in the
praéﬁce of medicine than the view urged bSJ the Applicant, As the Court of Appeals also noted
in Banks, courts elsewhere “have not applied an extremely teclmiov'al and narrow definition of the
practice of medicine.” 354 Md. at 74. -Answering phon"es in the Applicant’s medical office falls
withinlthe practice of medicine. Additionally, the work-pf:rfqmled in the Appiicant’s
medical office falls within and is intertwined with the practice of medicine. Having _
perfdrm these tasks placed thé Applicant’s pzitients at risk and s.up]:')orts a ﬁndiné, that the
Applicant engaged in ﬁnprofessional cqnduct in the practice of medicine. As a result, the Board
did not err in refusing to reinstate the Applic;nnt’s medical iicense.

PROPOSED CONCLUSION OF LAW

Baséd on the,forgagoing Findings of Fact and Discussion, I conolt}de 48 a mgttcr of .
law that the Board was correct to deny the Applicant a license to practice medicine in the
State as a result of the disciplinary panel’s denial on the basis that the Applicant is uilty '
of unprofessional conduct in the practice of medicine. Md, Code Ann., Health Oce, § 14-

404(a)(3)(il) (Supp. 2018); Bd. of Physician Quality Assurance v. Banks, 354 Md. 59, 7
(1999)."
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PROPOSED DISPOSITION

] PROPOSE that the February 12, 2018, Maryland Staie Board of Physmlans notification

- to Adoabi S, Udeo'zor, M.D., of its intent to deny her appliczition for Reinstatement of her License

to Préctice Medicine be UPEHELD.
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